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Endorsement and Statement by the Board
of Directors and the CEO

The Consolidated Financial Statements of Hf. Eimskipafélag Islands and its subsidiaries (the "Group") are prepared
and presented in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU. The
financial statements are presented in thousands of EUR.

In June 2008 the Board of Directors decided to write-off of all interest in the UK subsidiary Innovate HQ Ltd. The
total amount of the write-off was EUR 71 million, which was fully written off in the second quarter as loss from
discontinued operation. An amicable agreement was reached in July with former owners of Innovate to return 55.4
million shares in Hf. Eimskipafélag fslands which they received as payment for the sale of Innovate in June 2007. The
value of the returned shares reduced the write-off in the third quarter.

A loan in the amount of EUR 211 million which was a partial payment to Hf. Eimskipafélag Islands for the sale of XL
Leisure Group in 2006 was guaranteed by the Company. Following the fall of XL Leisure Group in September 2008 it
became evident that the Company would be forced to make payments under the loan guarantee. As a result the total
amount of the loan has been expensed among loss from discontinued operation in the income statement.

The aforementioned financial setbacks had a seriously negative effect on the Company's financial position. These facts
in addition to the difficult economic environment resulted in the Company not being able to meet its finanical
obligations. A standstill agreement was reached in October with the majority of the Company's creditors to allow the
management necessary time to dispose of assets. As a response to that the management has decided to fundamentally
restructure both the operations and balance sheet of the Group in order to create a sustainable capital structure for the
business going forward and to secure the core operations of the retained business. A part of the restructuring process is
to exit from the cold storage market in North-America and in Europe. The proceeds of these disposals are planned to
reduce the overall debt burden of the Group. The management is planning to negotiate a restructuring of those
obligations that remain after the asset disposals.

Net loss from continuing operation amounted to EUR 179 million for the Group. A loss from discontinued operation of
EUR 466 million results in a net loss of EUR 645 million for the year ended 31 October 2008 according to the income
statement. Total liabilities exceeded total assets by EUR 151 million at 31 October 2008 according to the balance
sheet resluting in a negative equity position in the same amount. At period-end shareholders in Hf. Eimskipafélag
Islands numbered 19.934 compared to 21,900 at the beginning of the period. Two stockholders owned more than 10%
share in the Company at the end of the period, Frontline Holding S.A. with 33.18% ownership and Fjarfestingafélagid
Grettir ehf. with 33.15% share.

The Board of Directors does not propose a payment of dividend to shareholders in 2009.

Statement by the Board of Directors and the CEO

According to the best of our knowledge, it is our opinion that the annual consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial performance of the Group for the financial year 2008, its assets, liabilities
and consolidated financial position as at 31 October 2008 and its consolidated cash flows for the financial year 2008.

Further, in our opinion the consolidated financial statements and the Endorsement by the Board of Directors and the
CEO give a fair view of the development and performance of the Group's operations and its position and describes the
principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group.
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Endorsement and Statement by the Board of Directors and the CEO contd.:

The Board of Directors and the CEO have today discussed the annual consolidated financial statements of Hf.
Eimskipafélag Islands for the year 2008 and confirm them by means of their signatures. The Board of Directors and
the CEO recommend that the consolidated financial statements be approved at the annual general meeting of Hf.
Eimskipafélag Islands.

Reykjavik, 29 January 2009.

Board of Directors:

Sindri Sindrason

Chairman
Orri Hauksson Gunnar M. Bjorg
Témas Ottdé Hansson Fridrik J6hannsson
CEO:
Gylfi Sigfiisson
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Hf. Eimskipafélag Islands

We have audited the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements of Hf. Eimskipafélag [slands and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 October 2008, and the
Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and the Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these Consolidated Financial Statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU. This responsibility includes:
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of Financial
Statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these Consolidated Financial Statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply
with relevant ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the Financial
Statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the Financial
Statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the Financial Statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the Financial Statements
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting principles used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the Financial Statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Basis for qualified opinion

The Company has announced that it has failed to comply with certain financial covenants with respect to certain credit
facilities and has been unable to meet some of its financial obligations. The Company has further announced that it has
entered into stand-still arrangements with its main lenders. The Company is in the process of asset disposals where the
proceeds will be used to reduce debt. Following the asset disposals the Company will enter into negotiations with its
lenders to finalize financial restructuring. This situation indicates the existence of a material uncertainty which may
cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern and therefore it may be unable to realize
its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. The consolidated financial statements do not
disclose this fact.

Qualified opinion

In our opinion, except for the omission of the information described in the basis for qualified opinion paragraph, the
Consolidated Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of Hf. Eimskipafélag
Islands as at 31 October 2008, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU.

Reykjavik, 29 January 2009.
KPMG hf.

Alexander G. Edvardsson

Olafur Mir Olafsson
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Consolidated Income Statement
For the year ended 31 October 2008

Notes 2008 2007
REVENUE ..ottt et e ettt e e nra e e e ebaeeeesaeeeennns 718.858 680.295
COSE OF SALES ..vviiieeiiiie ettt ettt eete e et e e e etb e e e eearee e eevaeeeetreeeennes ( 668.595) ( 615.912)
GIoSS PIOfit ......c.cooiiiiiiiiiiieee e, 50.263 64.383
AdMINISrative EXPENSES ...eeuveeurirererirentienieeieetentesieenteeteeatesiresieesteesseeeeseesaee ( 33.033) ( 32.765)
IMPairment Of ASSELS ....cccuveirieiiiiiiieiieee ettt ( 100.634) 0
Results from operating activities ...............cccooceeeiiiiiiiiiniiiiie e ( 83.403) 31.618
FINance iNCOME .........cviiiieiiiieeiiee et e eee e eee e e e e e e st eeensaeeeennnas 6.043 14.465
FINANCE EXPENSES ...cuviemiiiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt ettt st st ( 103.433) ( 55.595)
Net fiNANCE EXPEIISE .........ooouieiieiieieeieeiieieeie ettt see st e seeeaeenes 10 ( 97.390) ( 41.130)
Share of the profit of equity accounted investees, net of income tax .............. 15 3.496 19.766
(Loss) profit before income tax ...............ccoocoiiieiiiiinii i ( 177.297) 10.254
TNCOME LAX ..viiiiiiiie et et e e e e ete e e e etre e e eareeeeeaneeas 11 ( 4.917) 2.558
(Loss) profit from continuing operations .................ccccocoevvirieiinneeneee ( 182.214) 12.812
Loss from discontinued OPerations .........cc.ccecceeceereereenienieneeneeneeneeneeneennes 7 ( 466.211) ( 21.913)
Loss for the Year ...............c.cooooiiiiiiiiieeeeeece e ( 648.425) ( 9.101)
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the COmMPaNY .........cccceevueevierienienienieneeeeee e ( 655.463) ( 16.480)
MINOTILY INEETESE ...vveeviiiiiieiieieete ettt et s 7.038 7.379
L0SS fOI the YEAT ..couveiiiiiiiiiieiieeeee et ( 648.425) ( 9.101)
Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (EUR) ........ccccoeiiiiiiniiiiiiiiiinieceiceiceeeeieene 22 ( 0,380) ( 0,003)
Diluted earnings per share (EUR) ......c.coooiiiiiiiiiiniiiiiiiciceeceeeee 22 ( 0,321) ( 0,003)
Continuing operations
Basic earnings per share (EUR) .....c..ccocoeiiiiiiniiiiiiiiiinieeeieeceeeieens 22 ( 0,103) 0,001
Diluted earnings per share (EUR) ........coooiiriiiiiiiniiiiiiiciceececeee 22 ( 0,084) 0,001

The notes on pages 10 to 45 are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 October 2008

Notes 2008 2007
Assets:
Property, vessels and eqUIPMENL ...........coceeveeriieiiiiiiiriienieniee e 12 327.672 1.287.470
INtANGIDIE ASSELS ...veeveeiiiiieiiieiieeitettee ettt ettt 13 30.632 93.551
GOOAWILL ...ttt ettt ae et et eeneeeneeneas 14 151.830 436.677
Investments in equity accounted INVESLEES ......c..eeveerreerierruerriereeneeneenieeiens 15 229 1.424
FINANCIAL ASSELS ..eeiuvviieeiiiieeeiiieeeciie e et et eesree e et e e s seseeeesntaeeessseeesnnaeeans 16 77.890 67.398
D15 (5 5 (18 B 7 D 1 T TR 17 8.366 42.182
Total non-current assets 596.619 1.928.702
INVENTOTIES ...evviieiieieeiiie et ee et e ettt e e sttt e e e e e sbeeeessaeeeesseeessseeeesnsseeennns 4.681 8.306
Trade and other receivables ........c.cooeiiiniiiniiiiiniinieceeece e 18 133.274 371.039
Receivable related to sold OPerations ..........c..ceceeceeeieneeneeneeneenieeneeneeneenn 9.159 80.973
Cash and cash eqUIVAlENLS .........cccceeviiriirieniiniecece e 19 32.731 79.682
Assets classified as held for sale .........oocccvvieeciiieiiiieeeeee e 20 1.167.391 0
Total current assets 1.347.236 540.000
Total assets 1.943.855 2.468.702
Equity:
Share Capital ........ccoeiieiiiieiiee e 20.720 21.849
Share PremMitum ......cccueeierierieneeieite ettt st e i 413.878 448.461
RESEIVES ...ttt et e et e et e e st e e e e tbeeeentaeeennns ( 14.437) ( 110.614)
(Accumulated feficit) Retained €arnings ..........cceceeeereeneenennenncneeneeneenn ( 575.128) 79.077
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent ( 154.967) 438.773
MINOTIEY INEETESE ...eoeveeteiietieieeieeite ettt ettt ettt e e s s e seee e 20.730 12.502
Total equity 21 ( 134.237) 451.275
Liabilities:
Convertible 10an ........cooieviiiiiriiiieieeee e 23 67.248 76.471
Loans and DOITOWIINES ..c...coveriirienieniieiieieetenitenie ettt e e 23 327.785 1.163.416
Provisions and other Habiliti€s .............cccvevievieeieiieirieireeeie e 24 5.883 55.200
Deferred income-tax lability ...........coccoociniiiniiiiniinie e 17 9.511 178.257
Total non-current liabilities 410.427 1.473.344
Loans and DOITOWIINES ..c...coveriirienieiniieiieieetenitenieenieeie ettt eee e 23 433.796 239.289
Trade and other Payables ..........ccceeveeeieriiniieriee e e 25 321.935 304.794
Liabilities classified as held for sale .........c..cooeevierviiiininininicieeicee 20 911.934 0
Total current liabilities 1.667.665 544.083
Total liabilities 2.078.092 2.017.427
Total equity and liabilities 1.943.855 2.468.702

The notes on pages 10 to 45 are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
as at 31 October 2008

Changes in Equity 2007:
Equity at 1 November 2000 .........cccccooviviiininiiiiniiiiiinns

Foreign currency translation differences for

fOreign OPErations ...........cccerueeuienienienierieneseeieree e
Net change in fair value of available-for-sale

fINANCIAl ASSELS ....evevveiiriiicieiecteeeeeeee e
L 0SS fOr the YEar ......cc.eeieviiiieieniiiieieeeeeeee e
Total recognised income and eXPense ...........coceevverereeeeneneenne
New shares iSSUEd ........cceevevveirenerieinireieieereeee e
Purchase of treasury Shares ..........ccccoceeeevenenieienenieenenene
Dividend paid to MINOTILY ...cc.evueeeeneiriieieniinieieeieeteee e
Change in share option reserve, net of tax .........cccceceeeverueneenne
Written put options transferred as liability .........c..ccccevereenene
Recognised on acquisition of subsidiaries ....

Equity at 31 October 2007 .........ccccoviviiiiiniiiiiiiiiiciieiens

Changes in Equity 2008:
Equity at 1 November 2007 ........cccoeouererieiienenieieneeeeeneene

Foreign currency translation differences for

fOreign OPErations ...........ccevueeeerienienieiieneneerenresieeresresaens
Net change in fair value of available-for-sale assets ................
Loss for the Year ..........cccveviiiiininiiiinieieeeeccsieercreeiee
Total recognised income and eXpense ........c..ccceecvevvereevennennene
Purchase of treasury shares ..

Dividend paid t0 MINOTILY ....cceveevenvirieieniirieieneeieieneeeene
Change in share option reserve, net of taX ...........cccecevevieennine
Recognised on acquisition of subsidiaries ............ccccecvevuennnne.

Equity at 31 October 2008 .........cccooeevieneniiieneneeeeeeeeeene

Trans- Share Fair
Share Share lation option value Retained Minority Total
Capital premium reserve reserve reserve earnings Total interest equity
20.873 410.936 ( 10.000) 599 4.115) 95.557 513.850 23.780 537.630
( 64.618) ( 64.618) ( 867) (  65.485)
4.939) ( 4.939) ( 4.939)
( 16.480) ( 16.480) 7379 ( 9.101)
( 64.618) 0 4939) ( 16.480) (  86.037) 6.512 ( 79.525)
981 37.701 38.682 38.682
5) ( 176) ( 181) ( 181)
0 ( 280) ( 280)
659 659 659
( 28.200) ( 28.200) ( 28.200)
0 ( 17.510) ( 17.510)
21.849 448.461 (. 74.618) (  26.942) 9.054) 79.077 438.773 12.502 451.275
21.849 448461 (  74.618) (  26.942) 9.054) 79.077 438.773 12.502 451.275
65.806 65.806 216 66.022
9.054 9.054 9.054
( 655.463) ( 655.463) 7.038 ( 648.425)
65.806 0 9.054 ( 655.463) ( 580.603) 7254 ( 573.349)
1.129) (  34.583) 22.575 (  13.137) (  13.137)
0 ( 162) ( 162)
( 1.258) 1.258 0 0
0 1.136 1.136
20.720 413.878 ( 8.812) ( 5.625) 0 ( 575.128) ( 154.967) 20.730 ( 134.237)

The notes on pages 10 to 45 are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 October 2008

Cash flows from operating activities: Notes 2008 2007
o T R (o) 1 TSI . | USRS ( 648.425) ( 9.101)
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and impairment Of @SSELS ..........ecvveerreerierrireereenrireeieesieeeaens 53.341 59.279

Amortisation and impairment of intangible property, vessels and
10| 1800) 11153 1L TSR PRRRPR 97.383 8.204
Capital gains on Sale Of ASSELS ....ccviercveeriieriiieiiierieerie e st e sre e e sre e ( 1.394) ( 3.841)
Gain on sale of subsidiaries/associated COMPANIES ........c.eercveerrveerreeriveennenns ( 3.496) ( 19.766)
Net fINANCE EXPEIISE .oevuvreerierireeriieeireeiteeeiteeesteeesteeeseesteeeseesseeeseesseesseens 97.390 41.130
Change in deferred tAXES ......eevieerieerieeiieerieeieeerte e reeeetee e eeaeeaee e ( 602) ( 2.574)
Loss from discontinued OPeration .............ccueeeeeerieeereesneeesieessieeesieesneesneens 447.252 19.162
Other ChANEES .....eeiiiiiiieiiiee et st e e e e 1.228 5.929
42.677 98.422

Changes in current assets and liabilities:

INVentories, CHANZE .......cccueeriiiiiieeieeeieeee ettt s esbeeeaee e ( 417) 952
Receivables, Change ......c..oocvvieriieeiieeie et 79.630 94.567
Short-term liabilities, ChANGE .........ccccveeriieriieiiierieerre e 7.815 37.286
Change in current assets and liabilities 87.028 132.805
TNEETESE PAIA .eevvieeiiieiiieeiie ettt ettt et e et e et e st eeebeeebaeebeeenbaeeaeesnes ( 67.388) ( 80.117)
TNEEIESt TECRIVEM vnvveeeniieeiiie ettt ettt e et eebee et e sbaeeaaeenes 5.512 12.450
TAXES PAIA ..eeevvieeiieeiie ettt ettt et ettt e et e s be e st e e st e e sebeesnbeesnbeeenaeenaaees ( 2.331) ( 3.257)
Net cash from operating activities 65.498 160.303

Cash flows to investing activities:

Investments in property, vessels and equipment ..........ccceveereveervveerveencveennnenn ( 47.716) ( 103.044)
Proceeds from the sale of property, vessels and equipment ..............cceeeuvenn. 4411 274.621
Investments in iNtangible ASSELS ........cccveervieriieeriienieerieerreerreesreeereeseneenes ( 11.614) ( 8.055)
Investments in shares in other COMPANIES .........cccveeeveeriieeecieeriienieesieeeneenn ( 3.065) ( 1.303.841)
Other ChANEES .....ccoiiiiiiiiiiee ettt ettt e e et e 22420 ( 21.588)

Net cash used in investing activities ( 35.564) ( 1.161.907)

Cash flows (to) from financing activities:

Purchase of treasury SNAres ..........ccceevcveeriieniieenieerieenie e eseeeeeeesene e ( 1.150) ( 182)
Contribution from minority shareholders less dividend received .................. 785 3.220
Proceeds from 1ong-term DOITOWINGS ......cc.veerueerrireeriieeriieeriieeiieeieesieeeneeens 38.148 1.622.015
Repayment of 10ng-term DOITOWINGS ......ccccveervieriieriienieenieeeieeeieesveeeneens ( 130.931) ( 616.109)
Short-term borrowing, Change .........c.ceecvvercieeniieiiiieniee e 49.666 ( 86.058)

Net cash (used) provided by financing activities ( 43.482) 922.886

Discontinued operations:

Net cash from operating aCtiVities ...........ccueereerrreerieeieeeneeesreeseeesveeseeeenns ( 31.371) 46.348
Net cash from (t0) iNVEStiNg ACIVIIES ....eevvvvrerurerrireeiieeireeieeeieeeieesveeeneens 114.083 ( 155.910)
Net cash (to) from financing aCtiVities .........cceeevveereerrieenieerreeseeeveeseeenns ( 96.176) 95.581
Cash balance of subsidiaries classified as held for sale ...........ccceevvvvvreeeenn. ( 19.342) 0

( 32.806) ( 13.981)

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents ..., ( 46.354) ( 92.699)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year ............... 79.682 180.025

Effects of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and held ................ ( 597) ( 7.644)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year ................... 32.731 79.682

ot O RAE S Ay
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Reporting entity

Hf. Eimskipafélag Islands (the “Company”) is a company domiciled in Iceland. The address of the Company's
registered office is Korngardar 2, 104 Reykjavik. The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company as at and
for the year ended 31 October 2008 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the
“Group”) and the Group's interest in associated companies. The Company is an investment company focused on
investments in shipping and logistic services (see note 5). Hf. Eimskipafélag Islands is listed on the Icelandic Stock
Exchange OMX.

When an operation is classifed as a discontinued operation, the comparative income statement and cash flow is re-
presented as if the operation had been discontinued from the start of the comparative period. Comparative amounts
in the Balance sheet have not been re-presented. During the year Innovate HQ, Versacold and Daalimpex were
classified as discontinued operation.

2.  Basis of preparation

a.  Statement of compliance

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU.

The Financial Statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Company's Board of Directors on 29
January, 2009.

b.  Basis of measurement

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for available-for-sale
financial assets which are measured at estimated fair value.

The methods used to measure fair values are discussed further in note 4.

c.  Functional and presentation currency

These Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in EUR, which is the Company’s functional currency. All
financial information presented in EUR has been rounded to the nearest thousand.

d.  Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements are
described in the following notes:

Note 14 — measurement of the recoverable amounts of cash-generating units containing goodwill
Note 17 — utilisation of tax losses

Note 23 — accounting for an arrangement containing a lease

Note 25 — capital commitments and contingencies

Consolidated Financial Statements of
HYf. Eimskipafélag Islands 2008 Amounts are in thousands of EUR
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Notes, contd.:

3.  Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these Consolidated
Financial Statements, and have been applied consistently by Group entities. Certain comparative amounts have been
reclassified to conform with current year's presentation. In addition, the comparative Income Statement has been
represented as if an operation discontinued during the current year had been discontinued from the start of the
comparative year (see note 7).

a.  Basis of consolidation
(i)  Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential
voting rights that presently are exercisable are taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are
included in the Consolidated Financial Statements from the date that control commences until the date that control
ceases. The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align with the policies
adopted by the Group.

(i1) Associates (equity accounted investees)

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and
operating policies. Significant influence is presumed to exsist when the Group holds between 20 and 50 percent of
the voting power of another entity. Associates are accounted for using the equity method (equity accounted
investees) and are initially recognised at cost. The Consolidated Financial Statements include the Group’s share of
the income and expenses and equity movements of equity accounted investees, after adjustments to align the
accounting policies with those of the Group, from the date that significant influence commences until the date that
significant influence ceases. When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity accounted investee,
the carrying amount of that interest (including any long-term investments) is reduced to nil and the recognition of
further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has an obligation or has made payments on behalf
of the investee.

(iii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated in preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements. Unrealised gains arising from
transactions with equity accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.

b.  Foreign currency
(i)  Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at
the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency
gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning
of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period, and the amortised cost in foreign
currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the period. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate
at the date that the fair value was determined. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in
profit or loss, except for differences arising on the retranslation of available-for-sale equity investments.

Consolidated Financial Statements of
HYf. Eimskipafélag Islands 2008 Amounts are in thousands of EUR
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Notes, contd.:

3.  Significant accounting policies, contd.:

(ii) Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition,
are translated to EUR at foreign exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign
operations are translated to EUR at the average exchange rate for the year. Foreign currency differences are
recognised directly in equity. When a foreign operation is disposed of, in part or full, the relevant amount in the
foreign currency translation reserve is transferred to profit or loss.

c. Financial instruments
(i)  Non-derivative financial instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity and debt securities, trade and other
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables.

Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value plus, for instruments not at fair value,
through profit or loss, any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition non-derivative
financial instruments are measured as described below.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows.

Accounting for finance income and expense is discussed in note 3 (m).

Held-to-maturity investments

When the Group has the positive intent and ability to hold debt securities to maturity, then they are classified as
held-to-maturity. Held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost, less any impairment losses.

Other
Other non-derivative financial instruments are measured at amortised cost, less any impairment losses.

(i) Derivative financial instruments

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency and interest rate risk exposures.
Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair
value and changes therein are recognised in the Income Statement.

Economic hedges
Hedge accounting is not applied to derivative instruments that economically hedge monetary assets and liabilities

denominated in foreign currencies. Changes in the fair value of such derivatives are recognised in profit or loss as
part of foreign currency gains and losses.
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Notes, contd.:

3.  Significant accounting policies, contd.:

3.c. contd.:
(iii)) Share capital
Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to issue of ordinary shares and
shares options are recognised as a deduction from equity.

Repurchase of share capital (treasure shares)

When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which includes
directly attributable costs, is recognised as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are classified as treasury
shares and are presented as a deduction from total equity. When treasury shares are sold subsequently, the amount
received is recognised as an increase in equity, and the resulting surplus or deficit on the transaction is transferred
to/from share premium.

d.  Property, vessels, aircraft and equipment
(i)  Recognition and measurement

Items of vessels, property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. The cost of property and equipment at 1 January 2004, the date of transition to IFRSs, was
determined by reference to its fair value at that date.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed
assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a
working condition for its intended use. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related
equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

When parts of an item of property, vessels and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items (major components).

(il) Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing part of an item of vessels, property and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the
item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group and its cost
can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day
servicing of property, vessels, aircraft and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

(iii) Depreciation

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an
item of vessels, property and equipment. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their
useful lives. Land is not depreciated. The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as

follows:

BUILAINES ..ottt ettt st e a e st e st e st e e sa bt e st e e e a e e s bt e e ate e sabeesabeesabeeearee s 15 - 50 years
VESSEIS ..ttt s b et a et s e b et neen 5 - 14 years
EQUIPIMENLT ...ttt e e s st ettt ettt e 3 - 10 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual value are reviewed annually.
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Notes, contd.:

3.  Significant accounting policies, contd.:

e. Intangible assets

(i)  Goodwill
Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and associates.
Acquisitions prior to 1 January 2004

As part of its transition to IFRSs, the Group elected to restate only those business combinations that occurred on or
after 1 January 2004. In respect of acquisitions prior to 1 January 2004, goodwill represents the amount recognised
under the Group’s previous accounting framework, IS-GAAP.

Acquisitions on or after 1 January 2004

For acquisitions on or after 1 January 2004, goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the
Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree.
When the excess is negative (negative goodwill), it is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Acquisitions of minority interests

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a minority interest in a subsidiary represents the excess of the cost of the
additional investment over the carrying amount of the net assets acquired at the date of exchange.

Subsequent measurement
Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. In respect of equity accounted investees, the
carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment.

(ii)) Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group, which have finite useful lives, are measured at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

(iii)) Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific
asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands,
is recognised in profit and loss when incurred.

(iv) Amortisation

Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible
assets, other than goodwill, from the date that they are available for use. The estimated useful lives for the current
and comparative periods are as follows:

SOFEWALE ettt ettt b e b bt et et s bt s bt e sbe et e et ea bt ebtesbtesb e e bt enbeembesaaesbeenbeenee 3 - 5 years
CUSTOMET TELALIONS .....eouiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e s s 7 years
Market related INtAn@IDIES .........cooueeiiriiriirieieete ettt st sttt et 10 years
Other INtANGIDIES ......ccoiiiiiiiiiiiii e 5 years

f. Leased assets

Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as
finance leases. Upon initial recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value
and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in
accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.

Other leases are operating leases and the leased assets are not recognised in the Group’s balance sheet.
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Notes, contd.:

3.  Significant accounting policies, contd.:

g.  Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on the first-in
first-out principle, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing them to their existing
location and condition. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.

h.  Impairment
(i)  Financial assets

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is
impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have
had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between
its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective
interest rate. An impairment loss in respect of an available-for-sale financial asset is calculated by reference to its
current fair value.

Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial
assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.

All impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any cumulative loss in respect of an available-for-sale
financial asset recognised previously in equity is transferred to profit or loss.

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised. For financial assets measured at amortised cost and available-for-sale financial assets that are
debt securities, the reversal is recognised in profit or loss. For available-for-sale financial assets that are equity
securities, the reversal is recognised directly in equity.

(ii)) Non - financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication
exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite lives or
that are not yet available for use, recoverable amount is estimated at each reporting date.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less
costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into smallest group of assets that generates
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the
"cash-generating unit"). The goodwill acquired in a business combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, is
allocated to cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from synergies of the combination.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units and
then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.
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Notes, contd.:

3.  Significant accounting policies, contd.:

3.h. contd.:

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised
in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer
exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had
been recognised.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets that are expected to be recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing use are
classified as held for sale. Immediately before classification as held for sale, the assets are remeasured in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. Thereafter generally the assets are measured at the lower of their
carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell. Any impairment loss on a disposal group is first allocated to
goodwill, and then to remaining assets and liabilities on pro rata basis, except that no loss is allocated to
inventories, financial assets and deferred tax assets, which continue to be measured in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policies. Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale and subsequent gains or losses on
remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss. Gains are not recognised in excess of any cumulative impairment

i. Employee benefits
(i)  Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a
separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for
contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in profit or loss when they are due.

(ii)) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the Group is demonstrably committed, without realistic
possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normal retirement
date, or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.
Termination benefits for voluntary redundancies are recognised as an expense if the Group has made an offer
encouraging voluntary redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, and the number of acceptances can
be estimated reliably.

J- Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that
can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

k.  Revenue
1)  Services

Revenue from sale of commodity and service is recognised in the Income Statement when significant part of the risk
and benefit is transferred to the buyer. Revenue is not recognised in the Income Statement if there is uncertainty
about collection or related cost.

Revenue from services rendered is recognised in profit or loss in proportion to the stage of completion of the
transaction at the reporting date. The stage of completion is assessed by reference to surveys of work performed.
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Notes, contd.:

3.  Significant accounting policies, contd.:

L Lease payment

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the
lease.

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction
of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Contingent lease payments are accounted
for by revising the minimum lease payments over the remaining term of the lease when the lease adjustment is
confirmed.

m. Finance income and expense

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested including available-for-sale financial assets, dividend
income, gains on the disposal of available-for-sale financial assets and gains on hedging instruments that are
recognised in profit or loss. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss using the effective interest
method.

Finance expense comprises interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions, foreign
currency losses, changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, impairment losses
recognised on financial assets, and losses on hedging instruments that are recognised in profit or loss. All borrowing
costs are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on net basis.

n. Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in profit or loss except to
the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation
purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of goodwill,
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they
probably will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they
reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are offset if here is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they
relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but the
intent to settle current tax liabilities and asset basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.
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Notes, contd.:

3.  Significant accounting policies, contd.:

o.  Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business that represents a separate major line of business
or geographical area of operations that has been disposed of or is held for sale, or is a subsidiary acquired
exclusively with a view to resale. Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the
operation meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale, if earlier. When an operation is classified as a
discontinued operation, the comparative income statement is re-presented as if the operation had been discontinued
from the start of the comparative period.

p.  Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated
by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss
attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise convertible loans and share options granted to employees.

q. Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing related products or
services (business segment), or in providing products or services within a particular economic environment
(geographical segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments.
Segment information is presented in respect of the Group's business and geographical segments. The Group’s
primary format for segment reporting is based on business segments. The business segments are determined based
on the Group's management and internal reporting structure.

Inter-segment pricing is determined on an arm’s length basis.

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be
allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly investments (other than investment property)
and related revenue, loans and borrowings and related expenses, corporate assets (primarily the Company’s
headquarters) and head office expenses, and income tax assets and liabilities.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire property and equipment, and
intangible assets other than goodwill.

r. New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the year ended 31
October 2008, and have not been applied in preparing these Consolidated Financial Statements.

e IFRS 8 Operating Segments introduces the “management approach” to segment reporting. IFRS 8, which becomes
mandatory for the Group’s 2010 financial statements, will require the disclosure of segment information based on
the internal reports regularly reviewed by the Group’s Chief Operating Decision Maker in order to assess each
segment’s performance and to allocate resources to them. Currently the Group presents segment information in
respect of its business and geographical segments (see note 6). Under the management approach, the Group will
present segment information in respect of Logistics, Shipping and Discontinued.
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Notes, contd.:

3.  Significant accounting policies, contd.:

r.  New standards and interpretations not yet adopted, contd.:

e Revised IAS 23 Borrowing Costs removes the option to expense borrowing costs and requires that an entity
capitalise borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset as
part of the cost of that asset. The revised IAS 23 will become mandatory for the Group’s 2010 financial statements
and will constitute a change in accounting policy for the Group. In accordance with the transitional provisions the
Group will apply the revised IAS 23 to qualifying assets for which capitalisation of borrowing costs commences on
or after the effective date.

e JFRIC 11 IFRS 2 — Group and Treasury Share Transactions requires a share-based payment arrangement in which
an entity receives goods or services as consideration for its own equity instruments to be accounted for as an equity-
settled share-based payment transaction, regardless of how the equity instruments are obtained. IFRIC 11 will
become mandatory for the Group’s 2009 financial statements, with retrospective application required. It is not
expected to have any impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements.

e IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements provides guidance on certain recognition and measurement issues that
arise in accounting for public-to-private service concession arrangements. IFRIC 12, which becomes mandatory for
the Group’s 2009 financial statements, is not expected to have any effect on the Consolidated Financial Statements.

e IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes addresses the accounting by entities that operate, or otherwise participate
in, customer loyalty programmes for their customers. It relates to customer loyalty programmes under which the
customer can redeem credits for awards such as free or discounted goods or services. IFRIC 13, which becomes
mandatory for the Group’s 2010 financial statements, is not expected to have any impact on the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

e IFRIC 14 IAS 19 — The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction
clarifies when refunds or reductions in future contributions in relation to defined benefit assets should be regarded
as available and provides guidance on the impact of minimum funding requirements (MFR) on such assets. It also
addresses when a MFR might give rise to a liability. IFRIC 14 will become mandatory for the Group’s 2009
financial statements, with retrospective application required. The Group has not yet determined the potential effect
of the interpretation.

4. Determination of fair values

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and or
disclosure purposes based on the following methods. When applicable, further information about the assumptions
made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability.

(i)  Property, vessels and equipment

The fair value of property, vessels and equipment recognised as a result of a business combination is based on
market values. The market value of property, vessels and equipment is the estimated amount for which a property
could be exchanged on the date of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length
transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without
compulsion. The market value of items of equipment is based on the quoted market prices for similar items.

(ii) Trade and other receivables

The fair value of trade and other receivables is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the
market rate of interest at the reporting date.
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Notes, contd.:

4. Determination of fair values, contd.:

(iii) Derivatives
The fair value of forward exchange contracts is based on their listed market price, if available. If a listed market
price is not available, then fair value is estimated by discounting the difference between the contractual forward

price and the current forward price for the residual maturity of the contract using a risk-free interest rate based on
government bonds.

The fair value of interest rate swaps is based on broker quotes. Those quotes are tested for reasonableness by
discounting estimated future cash flows based on the terms and maturity of each contract and using market interest
rates for a similar instrument at the measurement date.

5.  Financial risk management

Overview
The Group has exposure to the follwing risks from its use of financial instruments:

- credit risk
- liquidity risk
- market risk

This note presents information about the Group's exposure to each of the above risks, the Group's objectives,
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group's management of capital. Further
quantitative disclosure are included throughout these consolidated financial statements.

The Board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group's risk
management framework.

The Group's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and
systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group's activities. The Group,
through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive
control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Board of Directors oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group's risk management policies
and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the
Group.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet
its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group's receivables from customers and investment

Trade and other receivables

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. The
demographics of the Group's customer base, including the default risk of the industry and country in which
customers operate, has less influence on credit risk. No single customer accounts for more than 10% of the Group's
revenue from sales transactions. Geographically, there is some concentration of credit risk.

The Group has established a credit policy under which each new customer is analysed individually for
creditworthness before the Group's standard payment and delivery term and conditions are offered. The Group's
review includes external ratings, when available, and in some cases bank references. Customers that fail to meet the
Group's benchmark creditworthiness may transact with the Group only on a prepayment basis.

In monitoring customer credit risk, customers are grouped according to their credit characteristics, including
whether they are an individual or legal entity, whether they are a wholesale, retail or end-user customer, geographic

ConsoliddR§34ion, indysiry. Agine profile, maturity and existance of previous financial difficulties.
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Notes, contd.:

5. Financial risk management, contd.:

Credit risk, contd.:
Trade and other receivables, contd.:

Goods that are shipped or transported may be with-held until payment for service rendered has been received. The
Group usually does not require collateral in respect to trade and other receivable.

The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in repect of trade
and other receivable and investments. The main components of this allowance are a specific loss component that
relates to individually significant exposures, and a collective loss component established for groups of similar assets
in respect of losses that have been incurred but not yet identified. The collective loss allowance is determined based
on historical data of payment statistics for similar financial assets.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet is financial obligations as they fall due. The Group's
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its

liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking
damage to the Group's reputation.

Eimskip, the parent company, has been the ultimate holding company for a portfolio of transportation related assets.
Due to losses on investment and difficult economic environment the Company has failed to comply with certain
financial covenants with respect to certain credit facilities and has been unable to meet some of its financial
obligations and has enered into a stand-still agreement with its creditors to allow the Company time to dispose of
assets. As a response to that the management has decided to fundamentally restructure both the operations and
balance sheet of the Group in order to create a sustainable capital structure for the business going forward and to
secure the core operations of the retained business. Following the disposal of assets the management plans to
negotiate a restructuring of those obligations that remain in early 2009. The objective of the financial restructuring
is to address the postion of the creditors of the parent company.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices
will affect the Group's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk
management is to manage and control market risk exposure within acceptable parameters, while optimising the
return.

The Group buys and sells derivatives, and also incurs financial liabilities, in order to manage market risks. All such
transactions are carried out within the guidelines set by management.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in currency other
that the respective functional currencies of the Group entities, primarely the euro (EUR), but also the U.S. dollar
(USD), the Canadian dollar (CAD) and the Icelandic krona (ISK). The currencies in which these transactions
primarily are denominated are EUR, USD, CAD and ISK.

The Groups investments in subsidiaries are usually not hedged as those currency positions are considered to be long:
term in nature.

Capital management

The Board's policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence
and to sustain future development of the business. The Board of Directors monitors the return on capital, which the
Group defines as net operating income divided by total shareholders' equity, excluding minority interests.
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Notes, contd.:

6. Segment reporting

Business segments
The Group comprises the following main business segments:

Logistics: Trucking, warehousing and coldstore operations.

Shipping: All transportation in vessels operated by the Group.
Discontinued: Warehouse and distribution operation in North America, UK and Europe. (In 2007: Aviation
services).

Geographical segments

In presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, segment revenue and assets are based on the
geographical location of assets.
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Notes, contd.:

6. Segment reporting

Business segments

For the year 2008
Dis- Consoli- Dis- Consoli-
Logistics Shipping continued dated continued dated
Revenue ........ccccecevevencniecececnene. 111.906 606.952 848.489 1.567.347 (  848.489) 718.858
EXPENSES ...ovvoveviieieieiieiieieeieienne ( 102.277) ( 560.547) ( 750.896) (1.413.720) 750.896 (662.824)
EBITDA ... 9.629 46.405 97.593 153.627 ( 97.593) 56.034
Depreciation and impairment ......... ( 1.369) ( 138.068) ( 139.325) (278.762) 139.325 ( 139.437)
EBIT ..o, 8.260 ( 91.663) ( 41.732) ( 125.135) 41.732  ( 83.403)
Net fiNanCING EXPEIISE .....couervertiruerierieiieiieiertertesteteteseete et esee s ese et sbe st sbeneeneens ( 218.670) 121.280 ( 97.390)
Share of the profit of equity accounted investees 3.496 0 3.496
INCOME tAX oo 17.111  ( 22.028) ( 4.917)
Discontinued Operation ...........co.ceeeeceeniereeneneennns ( 325.227) ( 140.984) ( 466.211)
L0SS fOF the YEAT ..c.eeuieiieiieiieieicee e ( 648.425) 0 ( 648.425)
For the year 2007
Revenue ........cccecevevenienieiccccnees 71.370 608.924 778.311 1.458.605 ( 778.311) 680.294
EXPENSES ..covvviviieienieiieiieieeieieneene (. 67.104) ( 551.888) ( 714.476) (1.333.468) 714.476 (618.992)
EBITDA ..., 4.266 57.036 63.835 125.137 ( 63.835) 61.302
Depreciation ..........coccevevecerecnnenns ( 306) ( 29.378) (  41.815) ( 71.499) 41.815 ( 29.684)
EBIT ..o, 3.960 27.658 22.020 53.638 ( 22.020) 31.618
Net fiNanCING EXPEIISE .....ccuervirririeierieiieiieierterterteteteiee st e sttt ese b eesbeneeneens ( 65.711) 24.581 ( 41.130)
Share of the profit of equity accounted iNVEStEEs ..........cceverererenrervereenenennenne 19.766 0 19.766
TNCOME TAX .ottt sttt ettt 1.705 853 2.558
DisScontinued OPETAtION .........c.evverieieierieiietesieieteeettereeseetestesseeeseeseeseesessessenseneas ( 18.499) ( 3414) ( 21.913)
Profit fOr the YEar ......cc.oeiiiiiieieiee e s ( 9.101) 0 ( 9.101)
For the year 2008 Dis-  Unallocated Consoli-
Logistics Shipping continued assets dated
SEZMENE ASSELS ..euvenvenrenienienieiirieeeesie e 64.133 695.706 1.167.391 16.625 1.943.855
Segment liabilities .... 57.163 879.595 911.934 229.399 2.078.091
Capital expenditure ............cccoeeveeererecnnreinenennen 13.289 46.041 78.097 137.427
For the year 2007
SEZMENEt ASSELS ...evevenreneenrenieieniereereeeeeeeeie e 1.441.701 931.606 95.395 2.468.702
Segment labilities ........ccevveererierierieeeeeeeiesieene 1.580.113 433.341 3.973 2.017.427
Capital expenditure ...........cccceceeereieeeeeencnennenn 47.962 99.931 147.893
Geographical segments
Americas
For the year 2008 North and Consoli-
Atlantic Europe Baltic Pacific Asia dated
Revenue from external customers .. 320.372 85.317 231.453 15.397 66.319 718.858
Segment assets .......c.cveureueineiiennnns 558.460 94.218 112.599 1.132.104 46.475 1.943.856
Capital expenditure ..........ccceeueneee 38.477 630 7.564 194 12.466 59.331
For the year 2007
Revenue from external customers .. 329.152 435.869 207.001 455.103 31.480 1.458.605
Segment assets .......cceeveeeeeeennennen 694.979 404.224 94.679 1.271.153 3.667 2.468.702
Capital expenditure ...........cccoee.... 89.498 9.268 9.351 39.178 599 147.894
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7. Discontinued operations

In september 2008 the board of directors decided to sell it"s warehouse and disributions operations in North-America
and Europe. All assets and liabilities of these operations are classified as held-for-sale in the balance sheet. In June
2008 the Group wrote off all of its investment in Innovate Holdings HQ which was a part of its logistics business.
(2007; the Group sold its Aviation operation.)

Loss attributable to the discontinued operation is specified as follows:

2008 2007
Result of discontinued operations
REVEIUE ..ottt ettt et e e s b e et e e sebe e s sbeessbeessseesaseensseesnsaennnas 848.489 1.068.894
24 1S3 1 LTSRS ( 823.313) ( 1.071.448)
Result from Operating aCtiVITIES .......eeecueeriieriuieriiieeiee ittt ettt ettt s b eaee e 25.176 ( 2.554)
IMPAITIENE LOSS ..cneviiiiiieiieteeeete ettt ettt sttt et ettt e b ebees ( 66.908) 0
INEt fINANCE EXPEIISE ..eouvvieiieeiiieiieeiteeeite ettt ettt ettt e bt e et e s bt e e bt e s bt e ebeesabtesabeesabeesaneenas ( 121.280) ¢ 24.581)
Claims, guarantees and loss on disposal of discontinued operation ...........cccccecveeveneenen. ( 325.227) 0
TIICOIMNE TAX 1eevvieeiiiieiie ettt ete ettt ettt ettt e rtte ettt et e et e e tteebaeentaesabbeenseesasseenseesnsaeenseesnssessnenns 22.028 4.267
Result from operating activities, net of iNCOME taX ..........ceeveeriereieriieieeieieseee e ( 466.211) (  22.868)
Gain on the sale of discontinued OPErations ............cceeveeerieeiieeriieriieerteeree et 0 955
L0SS fOr the PEIiOq ....oouvieeiieeieeiieiiee ettt ettt e seeeee e ens ( 466.211) (  21.913)
Basic arning Per ShAre ..........ccceoieiieiieie ettt ( 0,268) ( 0,010)
Diluted earnings per Share ...........coccoeeriiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeee e et ( 0,233) ( 0,009)
Cash flows from (used in)
Net cash (t0) from Operating aCtiVItIES .........ceervereerueerieererieeeiereesteeeeeeeeeesseesseenseeseennes ( 31.371) 46.348
Net cash from (t0) INVEStING ACHIVILIES .....evvvertieriirrierierieriienieenieete et eieesieesb et siee s 114.083 ( 155.910)
Net cash from (t0) financing ACHVILIES ......eecveeverrierieriieieeie e eee et eeee e e ( 96.176) 95.581
Net cash (used) in discontinued OPETraAtiONS .........c.cceveerueeruenienierienieenieeee et seenieenieeeens ( 13.464) ( 13.981)

31.10.2008  31.10.2007

Effect of the disposal of Innovate (2007 Air Atlanta) on the financial position of the Group

INtANGIDIE ASSELS ...cuvevirirririieiieiietetee sttt ettt sttt ettt sttt sa e 84.484 10.121
Property, vessels, aircraft and €qUIPMENLt ..........cocerieriiriinieneiiieieereneeeeeee e 35.689 230.178
FINANCIAL ASSELS .....vveiieiiiie et e e e e e e et e e e e e e eareeeeenaeeeeenneeeenneas 3.344 9.685
Deferred tAX ASSELS ...ccuvviiieieiiieeeiieeeeiiee e ettt e e ettt e e ettt e e eete e e e etr e e e et e e e e etaeeeetreeeeeatreeenanaeaas 0 13.298
LT 170 o 1 RS 605 7.157
Trade and other reCEIVADIES ..........ccueiiiiiiiieiiiie e e e e e e eave e 47.020 51.710
Cash and cash equivalents ...........cccccociiiiiiiiiiiiii 7.309 1.798
Assets classified as held fOr SAle ..........cccveiieeiiiiiiiiiii e e 0 52
L0ans and DOITOWINES ......ccueeiiiriieiieiiete ettt ette ettt e ste e ee st e st et e e enteeneesseesseenseenseeneas ( 36.690) ( 185.162)
Trade and Other PAYADIES .........cocueriiriirieniiieee ettt (  83.117) ( 100.392)
Net identifiable assets and HADIIIES ..........cccoveeeeeveeeeeiieeeeee e 58.644 38.445
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8. Acquisitions of subsidiaries and minority interests

Business combination

On 1 November 2007, the Group acquired 60% share in Shandong Luyi Container Transportation Co., Ltd. The name
of the company was changed to Eimskip Container Depot Co., Ltd. This acquisition had the following effect on the
Group's assets and liabilities on the date of acquisition:

EQUIPIMENE ...ttt ettt ettt e a e s bt b e bt et et satesbeenbe et e et ebbesbnenbe e beenaes 1.766
INEANZIDIE ASSELS ...ttt ettt et et s st a et e e naeeneen 5
INVEITOTIES ..ottt sttt b bt e a et besa e bt et esne s ennen 28
Trade and Other TECEIVADIES ..........ooiiiiiiiiiiie ettt ettt e 825
Cash and Cash EQUIVALIBIILS .....ccc.eoviiiiriieriieiieeeteet ettt et ettt s bt e et et st st e saeeneeenteeas 243
Interest-bearing DOITOWINGES .....c...ccieiiiiiiiiiiiiiiic ettt s e ( 506)
Trade and Other PAYADIES .........couiiiiriiiiiiie ittt sttt ettt be et ( 949)
Net identifiable assets and HADIIITES .......coecueiriiiiriiiiiieriee ettt s 1.412
GOOAWILL ON ACGUISTLION ..neutiiiiiieitietteieete ettt ettt ettt et et st sbtesbee bt et eateeatesbaenbeenbean 2.552
IMINOTILY INEETESE ....nveeuiieiiieiiieiteeieee ettt sttt ettt et e e et et e e e s nesaeesae e st esseesneenaesanessee s eenneenneeanes 564
Total CONSIAETAION PALA ...c..veevriiiiiiiiieieete ettt ettt sbt et ettt ebte st ae s bt e beesaeenaesaees 3.400
CaSH ACQUITEA ..ottt et ettt et e bt e bt e e bt e e bt e e bt e s bt e e bee s bt e ebeesbaeeseenane ( 243)
INEt CaSh OULFLOW ...ouiiiiiiiicc ettt s 3.157

‘1'he goodwill recognised on the acquisition 1s attributable mainly to the skills and technical talent of the acquired
business’s work force and the synergies expected to be achieved from integrating the companies into the Group’s
existing business.

9. Salaries and related expenses

(i) Salaries and related expenses are specified as follows: 2008 2007
SAIATIES ..t e s 83.382 81.447
Contribution to defined contribution plans ...........c..cceecieeieniieiiiiiiiieieeee e 12.853 11.277
Other salaries - related EXPENSES ........eeveriirierirrieiieiie ettt ettt 6.040 3.435
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions ..........c..cecceeceereereenienrieseeeseeneeneeneennees 0 703

102.275 96.862
Average NUMDET Of POSILIONS .....evuviriiiiiniiiiiiiieieeteet ettt 2.139 2.142
Number of employees at Year-end ..........ccocceverieriereenienieieeeetesteseeneeie e 2.141 2.195

In 2007 the Group issued a stock option plan for key personnal. In 2008 it became clear that the stock options would
not be exercised due to the fall of share price in Hf. Eimskipafelag Islands. The stock options were therefore charged
fully to the income statement and all disclosures regarding the stock options are excluded from the financial
statements for 2008.
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9. Salaries and related expenses, contd.:

(ii) Payment of salaries to key executives for work performed for the companies within the Group and their ownership in

the Company are specified as follows:

Board of Directors:

Sindri Sindrason, CRAIIMAN .......ooooovviieiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e
OFT1 HAUKSSON ...ttt e e e tta e e e e e e e eetaareeeeeeeeeannees
FridriK JONANNSSON ........viiiiiiiiiieiiie et ettt e e et e e eaae e e e are e e eeavseeeeanneeas
Tomas Otto HANSSOM ........vvviiiiiieiiiiiiiee ettt eee et e e e e e e tra e e e e e e e eeaanaaeeeees
Magnus TROTSEEINSSOM ...ceuveiuiiiiiiriiiriieieeteeteeteet ettt ettt sttt ettt ea e s be e
EgErt MAZNUSSON ....eeiiiiiiieiiieiie ettt ettt ettt e s e e st e st e bt e sabeesaeeesabeesaeeas

CEO's:

Baldur GUANASOM .......veiiiiiiiieeiiceiteeee ettt ettt sttt s e e saee s
Stefan AUSt MANUSSON «..coveeiiiiiitiriieniienteete ettt sttt et ettt st st este et et ebresbaenbeenbeas
GYHT STZIUSSON ..ot e st s

Other members of key management (6 ) ....c.cceveereriiiiinienienieieeieeteetesieee e

Salaries

and benefits

57
13
13
13
9
5

505
587
188

964

Number of
shares

owned (“000)

The shares owned by Board members are either owned by them personally or through holding companies.

38.951

622.725
3.057

1.450

In February 2008, Baldur Gudnason resigned as CEO, and was temporarily replaced by Stefan Agust Magnusson. In

May 2008 Gylfi Sigfusson took over as CEO.

(iii’ Fees to Auditors:

Audit of Financial STat€mMENTS .........cocovvviiiiieiiiiiieeieeeeeeeiree e e eeeeiaereeeeeeeeetaareeeeeeeeesannnes
Review of FInancial StatemeEnts .......cooeeeeieiiiiiiieieeiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e
OUNET SEIVICES wvvvvveiiieiietieieeie e eeee et e eeeeeee et eeeeee e et e e e eeesaaaaeeeeeeeenaaaereeeeeeeniataareeeeeeans

The amount includes payments to elected auditors of all companies within the Group.

10. Finance income and expense

Finance income is specified as follows:

TNEEIEST INCOINIE ..ovvvvveiiieeieeiiteee e ettt e eeeeee e e e e e e eetaaaeeeeeeeeestaareeeeeeeeesasaeseeeseeennssannees
DiIVIAENAS TECEIVE ..ovvvvviiiiiiiiieieeeeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeee ettt ettt e e et et e e e e e e e eeeeeeeeeerereeeeeeeeeeees

Finance expense is specified as follows:

Interest On 1oNg-terM LOAMNS ......cceeruieriiiriiiiiiiiiiereeeeeee ettt s
BOTTOWING fEES ..neveiiiieiiieitteee ettt sttt st et
OhEr INEETESE ..ottt st s eae
Net foreign eXChange LOSS ........eovieiiiieriiiiieeee ettt st e

INEt fINANCE BXPEIISE ..eouvvieiieiiiieiieeite ettt ettt et ettt e et e e bt e s bt e e saee s beesabeesabtesabeesabeesaneenas
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2008 2007
656 962
220 283
49 121
925 1.366
2008 2007
5.990 14.374
54 91
6.043 14.465
60.723) (  44.910)
2.649) ( 428)
14.189) ( 5.163)
25.873) ( 5.094)
103.434) ( 55.595)
97.391) ( 41.130)
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Notes, contd.:

11.

@

(i1)

(iii

Income tax

The effective income tax rate of the Group for the year was minus 2,8% compared to an income of 24,9% last year.
The difference between the expected and effective income tax rate for the year is attributable to the following major
factors:

In May 2008 the Icelandic Parliament approved a decrease in the income tax rate from 18% to 15% as of 1 January
2008. Due to this the deferred tax liability at year-end 2007 has decreased by 1 million. The decrease is recognised as
a reduction of income tax in the income statement.

The parent company was operated with a taxable loss for the year that is not recognized among deferred tax assets at
year-end due to uncertainty on the realization of the tax asset against future taxable income. As a result the effect is
reported as non deductable expense in the reconciliation of effective tax rate shown below.

An income tax expense is recognized in the consolidated income statement despite loss before income tax. Some
subsidiaries within the Group have taxable income where income tax is recognized while the parent company has a
taxable loss where deferred tax asset is not recognized as an income.

Further the fluctuations in effective income tax rates in the Income Statement is explained by different geographical
composition of profit or loss before taxes in individual companies.

Income tax recognised in the income statement: 2008 2007
Current tax expense: 30.6.1905 29.6.1905
CUITENE PEIIOMA ..ttt et et 5.992 ( 16.322)
Adjustment fOr Prior PEIiOAS .....c..eeveerieriiiiiinienieeteeteeteet ettt ( 209) ( 29)

5783 ( 16.351)

Deferred tax:

Origination and reversal of temporary differences ..........c..ccoceeeeiiiiiiiininiincnieieee ( 185) 14.313
Change iN TAX TALE ...cc.eeruertieieritentienieet ettt ettt ettt sb e b e et e et st saeesbeenaeeaeenreeanens 1.300 268
Recognition of previously unrecognised tax LOSSES .........ceceeeeurerierieneninenereeieneeneneenes 35 1.893
Other ChANEZES ......eovviiiieiieiiee ettt sttt e be b st e saee e ( 2.015) ( 2.681)
( 866) 13.793

Income tax excluding tax on the effects of discontinued operation
and share of income tax of equity accounted INVESLEES .........ccuevreerreereererieeriereeerieeeeans 4917 ( 2.558)
Income tax from CONtinUINg OPETALIONS ......cc.eeruerrierierierienieeieete ettt 4917 ( 2.558)
Income tax from discontinued operations (excluding gain on sale) ..........cccceeeeereereennnne. 12.194 9.383
TOtal INCOME LAX ....venviiiiieiieiieiieietee ettt sttt 17.111 6.825
Reconciliation of effective tax rate: 2008 2007
(Loss) profit before income tax ..........ccccceeverveereereennenne. (  177.297) 10.254
Income tax using the Company's domestic tax rate ......... 15% ( 26.158) 15,0% 1.538
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions ..............cce...... 0,3% ( 501) ( 46,3%) ( 4.743)
Non-deductable eXpenses ..........ccoceeveereeevienieneeneeneennens ( 18,3% ) 32.443 14,2% 1.453
Tax eXeMPL INCOME .....oovererereeeieiieieieeesreereeeeeereseessenns 0,1% ( 146) 0,9% 96
Effect of tax losses not utilised ..........cccceeeevuveieeenieeennnnn.. 1,1% ( 1.897) 0,8% 86
Under / over provided ..........cceevereriierierieneeieeieeieeens ( 0,6% ) 1.102 0,0% 0
Other differences .........ccccoeevveiieeiiiiiciee e 0,0% 74 ( 9,6% ) ( 988)
EffECtiVE TAX oovviviiiicieceieceecereeete et ( 2,8% ) 4917 ( 249%) ( 2.558)
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12. Property, vessels, aircraft and equipment

Property, vessels, aircraft and equipment are specified as follows:

Containers
Land and and

Cost buildings Vessels equipment Aircraft Total
Balance at 1 November 2006 ................... 118.754 127.530 113.737 155.712 515.733
Acquisitions through business

COMDINALIONS ...eovveeeviiieiienieeieeieree e 1.050.242 13.616 189.736 1.253.594
Other additions .........ccceceveeerierireireieenenns 18.144 46.951 38.904 201.450 305.449
Sales and disposals during the year ............ ( 186.612) ( 8.201) ( 14.705) ( 311.243) ( 520.761)
Currency adjustments during the year ...... 0
Balance at 31 October 2007 .........ccccoueeee 927.578 179.474 320.489 0 1.427.541
Balance at 1 November 2007 ................... 927.578 179.474 320.489 0 1.427.541
Acquisitions through business

combinations (see note 7) .........ccceeeeneeen. ( 4.963) 2.385 ( 2.578)
Other additions .......cccccevevveeneeneenceniennene 32.113 27.883 ( 5.625) 54.371
Assets classified as held for sale .............. ( 700.274) ( 159.432) ( 859.706)
Sales and disposals during the year ............ ( 139.010) ¢( 7.152) ( 22.307) ( 168.469)
Currency adjustments during the year ...... 4.049 3.839 2.771 10.659
Balance at 31 October 2008 ..................... 119.493 204.044 138.280 0 461.818
Depreciation and impairment losses
Balance at 1 November 2006 ................... 17.110 33.807 43.167 67.126 161.210
Sales and disposals during the year ............ ( 11.754) ( 5.714) ( 2.938) ( 75.757) ( 96.163)
Depreciation for the year ............cccc....... 17.505 10.867 30.379 32.459 91.210
Currency adjustments during the year ...... ( 409) ( 120) 8.171 ( 23.828) ( 16.186)
Balance at 31 October 2007 ..................... 22.452 38.840 78.779 0 140.071
Balance at 1 November 2007 ................... 22.452 38.840 78.779 0 140.071
Assets classified as held for sale .............. (  47.893) ( 35.488) ( 83.381)
Sales and disposals during the year ............ 8.051 ( 5.347) 898 3.602
Depreciation and impairment

for the year ......coccooeeviiiinvieniinicnies 24.840 22.190 35.699 82.729
Currency adjustments during the year ...... 13.134 3.839 ( 25.849) ( 8.877)
Balance at 31 October 2007 .........ccccouee.e 20.584 59.522 54.039 0 134.144
Carrying amounts
At 1 November 2006 .........ccoecevvreereeennnnen. 101.644 93.723 70.570 88.586 354.523
At 31 October 2007 ....cccovvereeneeneenenienns 905.126 140.634 241.710 0 1.287.470
At 31 October 2008 .........ccooceeveereeerirennne 98.909 144.522 84.241 0 327.672

Impairment charge

Impairment on vessels and buildings amounted to EUR 11 m is allocated to impairment of assets in the Income
Statement.
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13. Intangible assets

Intangible assets, amortisation and impairment losses are specified as follows:

Market and
customer
Cost Software related Total
Balance at 1 November 2000 ...........ccoccuveeerciiieeniiiie e eeveeeeveeesveee s 11.224 0 11.224
Currency adjustments during the year ..........ccceceeveereenerrenieneeneeneennenns 396 ( 3.155) ( 2.759)
Acquisition through business combinations .............cccceceeveereeneennennenne. 3.900 87.487 91.387
Additions during the Year ..........cccccvveeviiniiiiiiinienieeiceceeeeeeeee 8.055 0 8.055
Balance at 31 October 2007 .......cccveeevieeieeeiieeieeeree e ere e eveeeeneas 21.679 84.332 106.011
Balance at 1 November 2007 .......coocveeriieriieriieenieenieenie e eseeesiveesene e 21.679 84.332 106.011
Currency adjustments during the year ..........c.coceeeeveeveeninieneeneeneeneens ( 22) 2.415 2.393
Acquisitions through business combinations (see note 7) ........cc.cceceevueenne 5 0 5
Additions during the Year ..........c.cccceeviriiiiiniinieieiceeeee e 666 63.415 64.080
Assets classified as held for sale ...........ccoceeeeeiiiieiiiiiiiiiie e, ( 4.236) ( 118.207) ( 122.443)
Sales and disposals during the Year ...........cccoeeeeviiiiieniieeinienseeieeeieee ( 75) ( 50) ( 125)
Balance at 31 October 2008 .........cceecuieiiiieeiieiiieeiee e eiee e eree e e 18.017 31.905 49.921
Amortisation and impairment losses
Balance at 1 November 2000 ........ccccoevvieriieeiiienieenieenieenieeneeesiveeseneenns 338 0 338
Currency adjustments during the year ..........cccoceeeeveeneeninicreeneeneenneens 67 ( 501) ( 434)
AmOrtisation fOr the YEar ........ceceevuiriirienieniieeee et 4.368 8.378 12.746
Sales and disposals during the Year ..........ccceveeeveiriiiniieeinieeseeieeeieee ( 190) 0 ( 190)
Balance at 31 October 2007 .......cccveeeeiieriiieeiiieeieeeieesieeeieesveeereesveeeneeas 4.583 7.877 12.460
Balance at 1 November 2007 .......coocueeviieriieenieenieenieenteeseeeseeeseveeseneenes 4.583 7.877 12.460
Currency adjustments during the year ..........c.coceeveeveeveenenieneeneeneenenns ( 4.114) 17.829 13.715
Amortisation and impairment for the year ..........cc.ccoecceveevinieniicneenenne. 2.620 57.029 59.649
Assets classified as held for sale ...........cccveeeeiiieeciiie e, ( 1.428) ( 69.198) ( 70.626)
Sales and disposals during the year .........c..ccoceeveenerneininiieneencenieeieene 4.100 ( 9) 4.092
Balance at 31 October 2008 ..........cocciiiiiiieeeeiieeereee e 5.762 13.528 19.290
Carrying amounts
At 1 November 2000 .......cc.eeevieiiieeiieeieeeiee et eeree e e ereesreeeveeeveeeareeens 10.886 0 10.886
At 31 OCtODEr 2007 ..ooenevieiiieiieeiie ettt rite e e sbreereesbeeeaee s 17.096 76.455 93.551
At 31 OCtober 2008 .......oooiviieeiieiieeeie et et et eraeeree s 12.255 18.377 30.632
Amortisation and impairment charge
The amortisation is allocated to the cost of sales in the Income Statement.
14. Goodwill
Goodwill, amortisation and impairment losses are specified as follows: 2008 2007
Balance at 1 NOVEIMDET .....cccccuiiiiiiiiieiiiee ettt e e e et eeestae e e ssreeesereeeennaeeennnns 436.677 245.009
Currency adjustments during the YEar ........cecueeverierierienernienie sttt ( 740) ( 24.790)
Recognised on acquisition of SUDSIAIATIES .......c...cceecuieiiiriiniieiieieieecc e 2.552 246.096
SAES AUIINZ YEAT ...ttt ettt ettt ettt e e e s e 0 ( 10.318)
IMPAITMENE LOSS .nvieiiiiiiiieeite ettt ettt e st e s e ( 77.976) ( 1.117)
Reallocated to intangible assets and Other aSSEts .........cccceevvereereenerrerrienieneeneereereenens 4555 ( 18.203)
Disposal Of SUDSIAIATIES ....ccueeruiiriiiiiiie ittt ( 55.855) 0
Classified to assets held fOr SAle .........cccviiieiiiiiiiiiie e e e ( 157.383) 0
Balance at 31 OCLODET .....c.eeeiiciiiieeiiieeeiieeeetee et e et e e et e e ebeeestbeeeeessseeeensaeessseeens 151.830 436.677
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14.

15.

Goodwill, contd.:
2008 2007
The impairment of goodwill classified by operational categories, is specified as follows:
LLOGISTICS ettt ettt ettt et et e e st st b et 15.976 0
SRIPPING ettt ettt et st st bt e bt et e e bt eanesbe e beebean 62.000 1.117
77.976 1.117

Impairment testing for cash-generating units

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Group's operating entity which represent the
lowest level within the Group, as goodwill is monitored for internal management purpose.

2008 2007
The aggregated carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each unit are as follows:
LLOGISTICS vttt ettt sttt ettt b e st b e bt et et s bt sbee s bt et e bt eabeeaeenbeens 2.823 230.331
SRIPPING <ttt et st st st a ettt e en 149.007 206.346
TOLAL ettt ettt 151.830 436.677

Amortisation and impairment charge

The amortisation is allocated to the cost of sales in the Income Statement.
Impairment test

At the end of the fiscal year, impairment tests were performed on the Company's goodwill. When evaluating the
impairment, an expected discounted cash flow, was used. When calculating present value, an interest rate
corresponding to the weighted average of financial expenses was used, i.e. costs due to liabilities and equity, taxes
provided. If fair value of goodwill (current expected cash flow) results in being lower than the book value, the
difference will be recognised as expense in the Income Statement. According to test results, the goodwill has suffered
an impairment loss amounting to EUR 78 million during year 2008. The impairment is due to a coldstore operation in
the Netherlands and the vessel and transportation buissness on Group level.

Cash flows were projected based on the next year's business plan and expected growth in the next 4 years. Cash flows
for future periods is extrapolated using a constant growth rate. The anticipated annual revenue growth rate in the
cash flow projection was zero for 2009 and 2010 and 2.5% for the years 2011-2012.

The discount rate of 13-14% was applied in determining the recoverable amount of the unit. The discount rate was
estimated based on the companies weighted average cost of capital.

Equity accounted investees

The Group’s share of profit in its equity accounted investees for the year was EUR 3 million (2007: EUR 20
Summary financial information for equity accounted investees:

2008 Balance at Acquisitions/  Share in net Balance at

the beginning  sales during profit / (loss) Other the end of

Ownership of the year the year  of associate  adjustments the year
Freshport BV, Holland ...... 25% 100 119 219

Euro Container Line AS,

NOIWAY .eovvveeiieiiieeieeene 50% 1.305 ( 4.633) 3.377 ( 49) 0
Shares in other associates - 19 ( 9) 10
Total .ccoovveniniriieceieene, 1.424 ( 4.642) 3496 ( 49) 229

The gain on sale of the company is also included in share of net profit from Euro Container Line AS.
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15. Equity accounted investees

2007 Balance at Acquisitions/  Share in net Balance at
the beginning  sales during profit / (loss) Other the end of
Ownership of the year the year  of associate  adjustments the year
Daalimpex BV, Holland .... 40% 15.420 ( 15.420) 0
Harbour Grace, Inc., Canada 25% 560 ( 560) 0
Freshport BV, Holland ...... 25% 0 100 100
Traxx Interconti. BV, Hollar 20% 89 ( 89) 0
Euro Container Line AS,

NOIWAY .eovvveeiieniieeieeene 50% 0 1.328 ( 23) 1.305
Avion Aircraft Trading ehf. 49% 2288 ( 20.612) 18.324 0
Shares in 2 other associates - 14 5 19
Total ..ooocvveeiieeieeiieeieeee, 2951 ( 20.701) 19.752 ( 15.998) 1.424

The associates use other reporting dates than the Group and the share in net profit/loss are adjusted accordingly.
During the year 2007 Daalimpex BV and Harbour Grace Inc. became subsidiaries and were reclassified.

The gain on sale of the company is also included in share of net profit from Euro Container Line AS.

16. Financial assets

Non-current financial assets 2008 2007
Interest-bearing DONAS ........cc.coviiiiiiiniiniee ettt 79.756 48.984
Other fINANCIAL ASSELS ....vvviiieiieeiiiiiiiee ettt et e e e e eeerre e e e e e eeeearbeeeeeeeeesaraeeeeeeeennns 6.850 25.415
CUITENE MALUTILIES +.eeevvviieeiiieeeitieeeeitteeeeiteeeeetteeeeeteeeeseteeeeestseeeeesssesessseeessseseessssesensseeeans ( 8.716) ( 7.001)
77.890 67.398

17. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

2008 Assets Liabilities Net
INtANZIDIE ASSELS ..o.veeeieniieiiieieeiieci ettt ettt ettt 216 ( 2.853) ( 2.637)
Operating fixed aSSELS .......eeveeriirriirierieneeneeteeteeeete et ( 2.972) ( 4.975) ( 7.947)
RECEIVADIES ...ttt e 950 0 950
Long-term LHabilities ........coceereerieniiriiniinienienieeceieee et 96 ( 1.684) ( 1.589)
Employee Denefits ........cocceveeeeieniininininereeeccteeneer e 0 0 0
Current HabilIties .......oovereeriieiiirienieneereeeee e 120 0 120
(011115, U O OO PORTPPRUPRRTP 94 0 94
Tax 10ss carry-forwards ........cccccooerieriiniiniiiinieeeeeeeeee e 9.864 0 9.864
Total tax assets (HIabiliti€S) ......cecevveeriririiiieeiiieeiieeiee et 8.367 ( 9.512) ( 1.145)
SEL OFE TAX 1eveeviieeie ettt ettt ettt et e et e et e et eeaeesbaeeaaeeas ( 1) 1 0
Net tax assets (lHabIlities) ..ccveervveerieeriierie e eeie et ere e 8.366 ( 9.511) ( 1.145)
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17. Deferred tax assets and liabilities, contd.:

2007

Intangible assets
Operating fixed assets
Receivables
Long-term liabilities
Employee benefits
Current liabilities

Tax loss carry-forwards
Total tax assets (liabilities)
Set off tax
Net tax assets (liabilities)

Movement in temporary differences during the year

2008

Intangible assets
Operating fixed assets
Receivables

Long-term liabilities
Employee benefits
Current liabilities

Tax loss carry-forwards ....
Tax assets and
(liabilities)

2007

Intangible assets
Operating fixed assets
Receivables
Long-term liabilities
Employee benefits
Current liabilities

Tax loss carry-forwards ....
Tax assets and
(liabilities)

Consolidated Financial Statements of
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Assets Liabilities Net

....................................................................................... 7.240 ( 11.469) ( 4.229)

.............................................................................. 2 ( 152.884) ( 152.882)

.............................................................................................. 114 0 114

................................................................................. 13.406 ( 4.925) 8.481

.................................................................................... 2.262 0 2.262

..................................................................................... 6.036 ( 8.210) ( 2.174)

3.589 ( 6.160) ( 2.571)

........................................................................... 14.905 19 14.924

...................................................................... 47554 ( 183.629) ( 136.075)

................................................................................................. ( 5.372) 5.372 0

......................................................................... 42.182 ( 178.257) ( 136.075)
Acquired in Effect of
business  movements
Recognised combinations in foreign

Balance at in profit ~ Recognised (discontinued exchange Balance

1 November and loss in equity operation) rates 31 October

( 4.229) 1.263 0 315 13 ( 2.637)

( 152.882) 8.824 0 136.123  ( 12) ( 7.947)

114 ( 147) 0 997 ( 13) 950

8.481 ( 600) 0 ( 9.461) ( 8) ( 1.589)

2.262 0 0 ( 2.262) 0 0

( 2.174) 106 0 2.174 14 120

( 2.571) 110 ( 1.811) 4392 ( 26) 94

14.924 ( 554) 0 ( 4.507) 9.864

( 136.075) 9.002 ( 1.811) 127.771 ( 32) ( 1.145)

( 25) ( 1.640) ( 3.241) 730 ( 53) ( 4.229)

( 10.963) 36.587 2408 ( 177.272) ( 3.642) ( 152.882)

1.149 ( 17) ( 1.022) 4 114

( 162) 10.615 488 ( 3.222) 762 8.481

132 ( 372) 2.428 74 2.262

39 688 ( 79) ( 2.768) ( 54) ( 2.174)

1.878 ( 1.099) ( 151) ( 3.288) 89 ( 2.571)

17945 (  29.189) 281 26.736 ( 849) 14.924

9.993 15.573  ( 294) ( 157.678) ( 3.669) ( 136.075)
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18. Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are specified as follows: 2008 2007
Trade receivable, PAr VAIUE ........cooeiiiiiiiiinieieeieeteeteeeeee ettt 121.059 272.174
Prepaid @XPENSE ...c.eevieiieieeie ettt ettt sttt ettt et nt e s e n e neeneeneas 1.131 33.600
Current maturities Of lONZ-term NOLES .......cccueevuiriirienieniienieeie ettt 8.716 16.895
Other TECEIVADIES ....ceecuiiiiiiiiiieciiee ettt e e e e rre e e ettt e e e re e e s sbeeeeentaeeeesssaeessseeens 13.905 56.567
IMPAITIENE LOSSES ...vveneiiniieiieitieiieeitest ettt ettt ettt ettt e b e b et st saeesaeenaeenreeas ( 11.536) ( 8.197)
Trade and other receivables tOtal ..........ccceeviieiiieiiiecie et e e e e e vae v 133.275 371.039

19.

The impairment loss recognised in the income statement in the current year was EUR 8 million. (2007: EUR 2,5
million.)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are specified as follows:

BanK DALANCES ......ooveieeriiiriieeiie ettt ettt et e ettt e e et e e e et e e et e e et e e e e e eteeeenaeees 32.731 67.481
MaArketable SECUTILIES .....uviieeeiiiieiiiiieeeeiteeeeeie e e eete e e e ettt e e eetaeeeeeveeeeetreeeesaaeeeeeaaseeeesseaeennns 0 12.201
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENLS ..........cccoooiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e 32.731 79.682
Cash restricted to use by the GIrOUP ........cccoceerieiiiiiiiiiiiiieeceee e 0 ( 8.918)
Cash available for use by the GIOUP ......c..coceeviiiiiiiiiirieieceee e 32.731 70.764
20. Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale
Assets classified as held for sale are specified as follows:
2008
Assets
FIXEA @SSELS .oeiieiieiiiiieee ettt e e e et e e e e e e ta e e e e e e e eeetaaaeeeeeeeeeataraaaaeeeeeeaarreaaaeeeeeanrraaeaaeeaanns 756.209
INtANGIDIE ASSELS ...eeeuviiiiiiiiiiiciiet ettt st s 51.817
(€10 Te T 101 | KSR 157.384
FINANCIAL @SSELS ..eeiiuiviiiiiiiie et ettt e eet e e ettt e e e ete e e e eaaeeeetteeeeeatseseeassaeeetsseeenssseseanssseeesseseensssesennsees 1.583
DELEITEA LAX ASSEL ..uuvvvrieieeeeeeiiiieee e e e eeectt e e e e eeect et e e e e e eeettreeeeeeeeesarraeeaeeeeeaassaseeeeeeeassaaseeeeeeasinrrsseeeaeeaes 63.597
TNVEILOTIES ....viiiiiiiie et eeetee ettt ettt e e ettt e e e ette e e eetbeeeetaeeeeeataeeeeatseeeessseeeasssseeensseeeanssseeennssseeeasseeeans 6.070
Trade and Other TECEIVADIES ...........coiiiiiiiiiiiiee e et e e e e et e e e e e e e taraeee e e e e e araaeeeaes 111.389
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENLS .........cccuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiccciee et e 19.342
Assets classified as held for sale total 1.167.391
Liabilities
L0oans and DOTTOWIIES .....c.couiiiiiiiiiiieieniieie ettt sttt st st sae st b s et nens 592.579
105 1o 1 USSR 148.663
PIOVISIONS ...uviiiiiiiii ettt ettt e e et e e et e e e eettaeseetaeeeeetseeeeaatseeeeasseeeaassseeastsesesssseeenasseeeansseeeanes 31.402
Trade and Other PAYADIES .........ooiiiiiiiiieiiee ettt ettt ettt e st e bt e st e e saaeesabeenaees 128.772
BANK TOANS ...oiiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt e et e e e et b e e et e e e e taeeeeeataeeeetaaeeeeaaeeeeaataeeeeabaeeeaataaeeetraeeanes 10.519
Liabilities classified as held for sale total 911.934
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21. Capital and reserves

The Company's capital stock is nominated in Icelandic kronur. The nominal value of each share is one ISK and one
vote is attached to each share. The EUR amount of capital stock was 21 million at year-end 2008 (2007: EUR 22

Number of
shares in
thousands EUR
Outstanding capital stock at 1 November 2000 ...........ccccocevienieniiiiiniiiiicneeneeieenene 1.758.420 20.873
Proceeds from sale Of NEW ShAres .........cccoeiiriiiriiiiiirieeeeee e 83.110 981
Trading with treasury Shares ...........ccocovieriiiiiiiiee et ( 493) ( 5)
Outstanding capital stock at 1 November 2007 ..........ccccoevirininiieienicniinenieeneeeeeeenn 1.841.037 21.849
Purchase of treasury Shares ...........cooeevieiiiiinienieneeeeete e ( 124.206) ( 1.129)
On issue at the end of the Year ... 1.716.831 20.720

Share premium

Share premium represents excess of payment above nominal value that shareholders have paid for shares sold by the
Company.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve represents the liability the Company has toward its employees regarding share-based-
H edgin:g' reserve

The Group had no hedge accounting in force on 31 October 2008.

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets until the
investment is disposed of.

Dividend

The Company has neither paid dividend nor declared payments of dividend.

22. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share at 31 October 2008 was based on the loss attributable to
ordinary shareholders of the parent company of 652 million (2007: loss 16 million) and a weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding of 1.739 million (2007: 1.803 million), calculates as follows:

2008 2007
In thousands EUR Discon- Discon-
Continuing tinued Continuing tinued
operations  operations Total operations  operations Total
Net profit (loss) attributable
to ordinary
shareholders ................... ( 189.252) ( 466.211) ( 655.463) 2.019 ( 18.499) ( 16.480)
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22,

23.

Earnings per share, contd.:

Basic earnings per share, contd.:

2008 2007
'000 '000

Issued ordinary shares at the beginning of the year ..........ccccocvvreriiiiiininninnieeenn 1.841.037 1.754.135
Effect of shares issued ..........ccocoiiviiiiiiiiiiii s 0 48.481
Effect of trading with OWn Shares .........cccceoviiiiiiiniiiiiieceee e ( 101.643) 926
Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 OCtober ............ccoceevevvecvenicnincnnnnne. 1.739.394 1.803.542

Diluted earnings per share

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share at 31 October 2008 was based on the loss attributable to
ordinary shareholders of the parent company of 642 million (2007: loss 5 million) and a weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding after adjustment for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares of 1.739 million
(2007: 1.955 million), calculates as follows:

2008 2007
In thousands EUR Discon- Discon-
Continuing tinued Continuing tinued
operations operations Total operations operations Total
Net profit attributable to
ordinary shareholders
(DASIC) weveeeeeeeeeeee ( 189.252) ( 466.211) ( 655.463) 2.019 ( 18.499) ( 16.480)
Interest on convertible
bond, net of tax .............. 10.255 10.255 11.821 0 11.821
( 178.997) ( 466.211) ( 645.208) 13.840 ( 18.499) ( 4.659)
2008 2007
'000 '000
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (Dasic) ........cc.ccceevevivviriiiiiieienenincieeene 1.739.394 1.803.541
Effect of convertible DONAS .........cooviiiiiiiiiiiiiieee e 202.833 151.225
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) at 31 October .........cccccoeeereeneene 1.942.227 1.954.766

The average market value of the Company’s shares for purposes of calculating the dilutive effect of share options was
based on quoted market prices for the period that the options were outstanding.

Loans and borrowings

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s loans and borrowings. For more
information about the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk, see note 5:

Non-current loans and borrowings at the end of the year consist of the following: 2008 2007

ConVETtIDIE 10AN .....oviiiiiiiiiiiii e s 67.248 76.471

L0ans and DOITOWINES ......ccueeiiiriieiieriieie et eie ettt ettt sae e st e st et e e enteeneesseesseeseenseenees 327.785 1.163.416
395.033 1.239.887
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23. Loans and borrowings, contd.:

Nominal Carrying Nominal Carrying

interest amount interest amount

2008 2008 2007 2007

Loans in EUR ...t 4,0-7,6% 595.508 4,0-7,0% 455.460
Loans in CAD ....cccooiniriiieieicictcneseneeteeeeeseeseese e 6,2-15% 68.177 4,7-15% 422219
Loans in USD ....cccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiicneececccecseee 3,4-11,6% 23.022 4,8-8,0% 326.163
Loans in ISK ..o 5,25-18,8% 28.880 5,3-16,5% 118.578
Loans in GBP .......cccccoiiiiniiiiiccecces 7,16-8,0% 5.683 4,8-9,1% 39.826
Loans in CHF .....c.coociiiiiiiiiiiiicccccceeeee 2,8-4,67% 27.284 2,5-4,1% 25.857
Loans in JPY ..oooiiiiiiiiiiccee 2,6-3,4% 17.916 2,0-2,4% 13.419
Loans in other CUITENCIES .......cceevvveeueeiieeeeiieeiieeeeeee e 8-9,29% 38.156 6,0-6,8% 14.365
804.624 1.415.887

Current MAtUTTHES ..ccc.veereeerrieerieeniieenteeee e ( 409.593) ( 176.000)
395.031 1.239.887

Aggregated annual maturities are as follows: 2008 2007
On demand or within 12 months ...........ccccociiiiiiiiiiee e 409.593 176.000
Between one and fiVe YEAIS .....cc.eeciieieeieiieiieieeie ettt 358.078 1.148.081
SUDSEQUENE YEALS ....veeveeniieniieiiieitenttenteeteete et st stee st ete et e eate st tesbee bt esbeesaesatesaeesbeenseenseens 36.954 91.806

804.624 1.415.887

Collateral of loans and borrowings is specified as follows:

CONVEIIDIE JOAM ....uviiiiiiiiieiiieeee e e e e e e et e e e e e e arreeeeeeeeennnnes 67.248 83.648
Loans with collateral in fiXed aSSELS ..........covuiiiiiiiieeeiiie ettt eeir e e 202.784 828.449
Loans with collateral in accounts receivable and StOCKS ...........ccccoeoeviviiieiiieiiieiieeceieeee, 140.341 262.846
Unsecured bond issued, 10 COIAtEral ..........cccouvvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieee e 394.251 240.944
o 7: Y KRR 804.624 1.415.887

The holder of the convertible loan has the unilateral right to demand that the debt shall be converted to common
shares of the Company at the price ISK 40 per share.

Finance lease liabilities

Finance lease liabilities are payable as follows:

2008 2007

Minimum Minimum

lease lease
payments Interest Principal payments Interest Principal
Less than one year ............. 18.173 266 17.907 15.025 2.060 12.965

Between one and

five years ......ccccceueverennenne 39.445 825 38.620 39.907 7.437 32.469
More than five years ......... 2.389 135 2.254 36.412 11.677 24.735
60.007 1.227 58.781 91.344 21.174 70.169
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24. Provisions

25.

26.

Consolidated Financial Statements of

Onerous

contracts Other Total
Balance at 1 November 2007 .......coocueeriierieeiiienieenieenieeneeeseeesieeesineenes 13.149 42.051 55.200
Provisions made during the period .........c...coceeieiiiiiiiiiiiicnicniceenee 5.628 5.628
Provisions reversed during the period ..........c.cceceeveevinvienienieneenennennne. 13.149) ( 10.392) ( 23.541)
CUurrency adjUSTMENES .....eevuveerurierieeniieerieenteenteeniteesireesieeesareesaeeesareenaeeas ( 2) ( 2)
Transferred to liabilities classified as held for sale .............ccceeeevveeennnn. ( 31.402) ( 31.402)
Balance at 31 October 2008 ..........coccviiieiiiieeeiieeereee e 0 5.883 5.883
Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are attributable to the following: 2008 2007
ACCOUNE PAYADIE ...ttt et b ettt st ens 56.971 115.748
Other PAYADIES .......coouiiiiiiiiieeee et sttt e 40.688 189.046
Provisions and ClAIMS .........c.ccveiieriiiriiiiecieeeeete ettt ettt e staese e e ebeebeesaeseaesseesseesseensenns 224.276 0
Ko 7:1 E OO OO USRS PRRRPR 321.935 304.794

Financial instruments

Credit risk

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit

risk at the reporting date was:

Held to maturity investments
Financial assets at fair value

Loans and receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Carrying amount

Note 2008 2007
16 79.756 48.984

16 6.850 25.415

18 133.275 371.039

19 32.731 79.682
252.612 525.120

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivable at the reporting date by geographic region was:
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2008 2007
172.283 209.426
16.627 169.070
42.033 30.685
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26. Financial instruments, cont.:
Impairment risk

The aging of trade receivables ath the reporting date was:
Gross  Impairment

INOE PASE QUC ..ottt ettt ettt ettt et e et e s et e st e st enseenseensesneesneenseenseenseans 69.902 1.024
Past due 0 - 30 days ...cc.eoeeieiiiiieieeeee e s 15.826 1.090
Past due 31 - 120 daYS ..ooveeieiieieeeeee e et 14.832 1.473
More than 120 daYS .....c.cocveieriiriiiirieieieeeee et 12.462 7.949

113.023 11.536

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:

Balance at 111 .o 7.634
Impairment loss recognised and translation difference ..........c..ccccooeeiiiiiiiiniininiincee e 3.902
Balance at 31.10 ..o 11.536

The notes regarding IFRS 7 have not been prepared in complete compliance to that standard. The Company has
entered into stand-still arrangements with its main lenders to allow the management necessary time to dispose of
assets and repay debt. As a response to that the management has decided to fundamentally restructure both the
operations and balance sheet of the Group in order to create a sustainable capital structure for the business going
forward. Under these conditions it has been difficult to obtain appropriate information in order to calculate and reveal
those notes. Considering also the concept of materiality means that a specific disclosure requirement in a Standard or
an Interpretation need not be satisfied if the information is not material.

27. Operating leases

Leases as lessee

2008 2007

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows for the coming fiscal year:
LSS thAN ONE YEAT .....eeueieeieeiieeiieiieie e eteeite st ettt et eeate st e e st e beenseeneesaeesseeseenseensesneenneens 59.817 83.983
Between one and fiVe YEATS ........coevieiiieieiereite sttt 191.004 283.870
MOTe than fIVE YEATS ......cc.eeriieiieieeiectiesteeste ettt ettt ettt eesbeetesnaesneesaeeseeneeens 509.576 1.062.205
760.397 1.430.058
DiScONtinUEd OPETAtiON .........eceervieriieriieieeteste et et et eteetesetesseesseesseeteeaesneesseesseeseeneeens ( 750.177) ( 1.424.702)
TOLAL ettt ettt nes 10.220 5.356

The Group leases a number of warehouses, trucks and equipment under operating leases. The leases typically run for
a period of 3 - 10 years and for the warehouses (discontinued) up to 20 years.
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28. Capital commitments

The Company was Guarantor to lessors for lease payments of eight aircraft to former subsidiary XL Airways in the
UK. Claims due to these guarantees have been estimated and expensed among loss from discontinued operations in
the income statement and posted as other payables at year-end in the Balance Sheet (see note 25).

The Company was a guarantor of loans taken by its former subsidiary, Air Atlanta Icelandic, amounting to USD 184
million at 31 October 2008. The gurarntees are against bank loans that are mainly secured by aircraft. The Company
was also a guarantor of a loan taken by its former subsidiary Air Atlanta Aero Engeneering which amounted to EUR
5 million at 31 October 2008.

The Containership business is currently owned 65% by Eimskip and 35% by Container Finance. In February 2009
Container Finance has the right to put its 35% shareholding to Eimskip based on a pre-determined formula.

29. Related parties

The Company's related parties are subsidiaries (see note 31), and associated companies (see note 15). Intercompany
transactions are elimineted on colidation and transactions with associated companies are minimal.

30. Group entities

At year-end the Company owned directly nine subsidiaries that are all included in the consolidation. The direct
subsidiaries further owned 130 subsidiaries at year-end. The subsidiaries that are included in the Group are as

follows:
Country of Ownership
incorporation Interest

2008 2007
TVG - Zimsen ehf. .......cccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiece e Iceland 100% 100%
Eimskip Tango ehf. (Parent of Versacold International Corp.) ................ Iceland 100% 100%
Eimskip Atlas Canada Inc. .........cccoceiiiiiiiiniiiiiii, Canada - 100%
EimsKip USA INC. .ouvoiiiiiiiiriiiciricnetseete ettt USA 100% 100%
Eimskip UK Ltd. ...ccociiiiiiiiiiiiiiccn England 100% 100%
Eimskip Nederland BV ......c.coccooiiniiiininiincnncnencceceeeeenenne Holland 100% 100%
P/F Faroe Ship ......ccccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiicis Faroe Islands 100% 100%
Harbour Grace CS INC., woeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee et e e e eeeeeaeeeeeeeseeesaees Canada 51% 51%
Continaership OY ...oooiiiiiiiiiiicereeece e Finland 65% 65%

31. Subsequent events

There are no material subsequent events that have not been disclosed in the Financial Statements.

Consolidated Financial Statements of

HYf. Eimskipafélag Islands 2008 Amounts are in thousands of EUR
41




Notes, contd.:

32. Corporate restructuring

The Company has for a number of years been the ultimate holding company for a growing portfolio of transportation
related assets. These investments were acquired at high purchase prices but most did not deliver the level of
performance expected during the acquisition processes and few of the expected synergies between the assets have
been delivered to date.

New loans were taken to satisfy the acquisition of majority of the acquired investments. As a result the Company
became very levereged and vulnerable to changes in the international capital markets. The Company suffered severe
losses due to the closure of its UK subsidiary Innovate HQ Ltd. and the fall of the XL Leisure Group in the year
2008. These facts and the Company's disadvantageous financing plus the difficult economic environment affected the
Company in such a way that it became unable to meet its financial obligations.

A stand-still arrangements were reached in October with the majority of the Company's creditors to allow the
management necessary time to dispose of assets. The management has decided to fundamentally restructure both the
operations and balance sheet of the Group in order to create a sustainable capital structure for the business going
forward and to secure the core operations of the retained business. A part of the restructuring process is to exit from
the cold storage market in North-America and in Europe. The proceeds of these disposals are planned to reduce the
overall debt burden of the Group. The management is planning to negotiate a restrucutring of those obligations that
remain afther the asset dsoposals.

33. Other matters

The former CEO of the Company, Baldur Gudnason, has filed a suit against the Company demanding that the
appendix to his Employment Contract made February 20, 2008 is honoured. The Company halted all payments to him
in May 2008 as the Company's board of directors decided to investigate his departure and the Company's legal status
against him. If he will be successful in his law suit the Company has to pay approximately EUR 1.3 million in the
form of salaries and contribution to his pension fund for the period 1 May 2008 to 20 February 2010.
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Unauditied information

Quarterly Statements

The Company's operations are specified as follows by quarters:

Ql Q2 Q3 Q4 Total

2008 2008 2008 2008 2008

REVENUE ...ccvviiiiieeiiicieee e 171.915 183.489 188.297 175.157 718.858
Cost Of SAIES ..eevvrereeieeiieieceeeeere e ( 162.172) ( 163.459) ( 169.173) ( 173.791) ( 668.595)
Gross profit ..., 9.743 20.031 19.123 1.366 50.263
Administrative eXpenses ........c...cecueevveeunene ( 7.328) ( 10.450) ( 8.102) ( 7.153) ( 33.033)
Impairment of assets .........ceccveveverereiennenne 0 0 0 ( 100.633) ( 100.633)
Operating profit (10ss) ...........cccceevuvennee. 2.414 9.581 11.021 ( 106.420) ( 83.403)
Financial income and expenses ................ ( 10.021) ( 41.066) ( 24.369) ( 21.934) ( 97.390)
Share of the profit of associates ............. ( 86) 328 321 2.933 3.496
Pre-tax profit ..............occoeoeiiininninnn. ( 7.693) ( 31.157) ( 13.027) ( 125.421) ( 177.297)
INCOME tAX ..vveereeiereeriereereeee e 151 3911 ( 1.397) ( 7.582) ( 4.917)
Loss from continuing operations .... ( 7.542) ( 27.245) ( 14.424) ( 133.003) ( 182.214)
Loss from discontinued operations ........... ( 31.346) ( 73.587) ( 5.308) ( 355.970) ( 466.211)
Loss for the period .................cccooeeee. (  38.888) ( 100.832) ( 19.732) ( 488.973) ( 648.425)
EBITDA from continuing operations .... 11.765 19.692 20.487 4.090 56.034
EBITDA from discontinuing operations 30.431 20.322 20.642 26.198 97.593
EBITDA total ............cooovveiieieiieenne. 42.196 40.014 41.129 30.288 153.627
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